

NUCLEAR DECISION-MAKING IN IRAN: IMPLICATIONS FOR US NONPROLIFERATION EFFORTS

3

BY ARIANE TABATABAI AUGUST 2020



ABOUT THE CENTER ON GLOBAL ENERGY POLICY

The Center on Global Energy Policy provides independent, balanced, data-driven analysis to help policymakers navigate the complex world of energy. We approach energy as an economic, security, and environmental concern. And we draw on the resources of a world-class institution, faculty with real-world experience, and a location in the world's finance and media capital.

Visit us at www.energypolicy.columbia.edu





ABOUT THE SCHOOL OF INTERNATIONAL AND PUBLIC AFFAIRS

SIPA's mission is to empower people to serve the global public interest. Our goal is to foster economic growth, sustainable development, social progress, and democratic governance by educating public policy professionals, producing policy-related research, and conveying the results to the world. Based in New York City, with a student body that is 50 percent international and educational partners in cities around the world, SIPA is the most global of public policy schools.

For more information, please visit www.sipa.columbia.edu

For a full list of financial supporters of the Center on Global Energy Policy at Columbia University SIPA, please visit our website at https://www.energypolicy.columbia.edu/partners. See below a list of members that are currently in CGEP's Visionary Annual Circle. This list is updated periodically.

Jay Bernstein Breakthrough Energy LLC Occidental Petroleum Corporation



NUCLEAR DECISION-MAKING IN IRAN: IMPLICATIONS FOR US NONPROLIFERATION EFFORTS

BY ARIANE TABATABAI AUGUST 2020



Columbia University CGEP 1255 Amsterdam Ave. New York, NY 10027 energypolicy.columbia.edu

f 🄰 🧿 @ColumbiaUenergy

FOREWORD

Assessments of foreign policy tend to fall into one of two major camps: either they ascribe to a state's actions all of the characteristics of a unitary actor, in which there is a decision made and executed as designed; or they fixate on the minutiae of the internal politics and deal making that went into the decision, underscoring the complexity of decision-making but often losing the thread of what results. This is particularly pernicious when involving the actions of a state with opaque decision-making and where attribution of responsibility is often itself the subject of intense internal political debate and controversy, as is the case with Iran.

In this paper, Ariane Tabatabai seeks to pierce the veil of Iranian nuclear decision-making to both *explain* how decisions are reached and *identify* the effects of those decisions as a matter of Iranian state policy. This is, in many ways, an essential matter for those interested in understanding how Iran will decide—and *what* Iran may decide—to do in response to the continued stresses being imposed upon it by US-led international sanctions, especially when previous analysis has proven to be both overly optimistic (that Iran would meekly absorb the costs of US sanctions) and, at times, overly pessimistic (that Iran would withdraw from the nuclear agreement known as the Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action without delay). It is necessary to understand better how Iran reaches its decisions, particularly in the nuclear sphere, to be able to more accurately predict what it may choose to do next. This has utility in a variety of lines of work and study, but perhaps no more so than in the energy industry, which is both affected by—and has the power to affect in turn—Iranian decision-making.

For this reason, we commissioned this paper and commend it to you as an important source of knowledge on how Iran's decision-making process works, especially as relates to its nuclear weapons-relevant capabilities. Though the weapons program remains dormant, the way in which Iranian officials—and Iran as that unitary actor—think about these capabilities is an essential element of the story to come.

Richard Nephew

Senior Research Scholar, head of the International Security Initiative Center on Global Energy Policy, Columbia University



ABOUT THE AUTHOR

Dr. Ariane Tabatabai is an adjunct senior research scholar with Columbia University's School of International and Public Affairs. She is also the Middle East Fellow at the German Marshall Fund of the United States. Previously, she served as an associate political scientist at the RAND Corporation, the director of curriculum and a visiting assistant professor in the Security Studies Program at Georgetown University, and an international civilian consultant for NATO. Tabatabai was a Stanton Nuclear Security Fellow and a post-doctoral fellow at the Harvard Kennedy School's Belfer Center and holds a PhD from King's College London. She is the co-author of *Triple Axis—Iran's Relations with Russia and China* (Bloomsbury Publishing) and the author of the forthcoming *No Conquest, No Defeat—Iran's National Security Strategy* (Oxford University Press).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author is grateful to Richard Nephew, Christina Nelson, and Matthew Robinson for making this paper possible. Eric Brewer, Richard Nephew, and two anonymous reviewers provided thoughtful feedback on earlier drafts of this paper.

This policy paper represents the research and views of the author. It does not necessarily represent the views of the Center on Global Energy Policy. The paper may be subject to further revision.

This work was made possible by support from the Center on Global Energy Policy. More information is available at <u>https://energypolicy.columbia.edu/about/partners</u>.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Executive Summary	06
Introduction	08
Methodology	10
A History of the Iranian Nuclear Program	12
Core Concepts of Iranian Strategic Thinking	18
Deterrence	18
Self-Reliance	18
Asymmetric Warfare	20
Iranian Nuclear Decision-Making	22
The Islamic Republic's Decision-Making Process	22
The Decision-Making Process and Nuclear Policy	26
Conclusion and Implications	30
Notes	32



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Iran's nuclear program has stirred geopolitical tensions; roiled energy markets; and preoccupied policy makers, investors, NGOs, and academics for two decades. Despite assurances from Tehran that its nuclear activities have been peaceful, global concerns about Iran's ambitions to build a bomb remain. Three US administrations have tried to formulate a policy designed to keep Iran away from a nuclear weapon while academics have debated the merits of the existing scholarship in helping configure a sound response to the regime's plans. Global energy and financial systems are also implicated, as tensions around Iran's nuclear program have affected oil markets and investment decisions for over a decade.

Yet, the topic of Iran's nuclear decision-making is a relatively underdeveloped field, especially compared with a substantive body of scholarship and policy analysis pertaining to other aspects of Iran's foreign policy in general and its nuclear program in particular. As part of Columbia University's work on Iran's nuclear program, this paper explores how Tehran determines the direction of the country's nuclear program and its implications for US and international efforts to keep the Islamic Republic away from the bomb. To this end, the author, through research and firsthand interviews, seeks to answer the following questions in this paper: What drives Iran's nuclear thinking? Which key power centers draw the contours of the country's nuclear policy? Answering these questions is critical because as Iran continues to shrink the time needed to acquire enough fissile material for a nuclear weapon, the United States and the rest of the international community once again find themselves looking for effective ways to block the regime's pathways to the bomb.

Iran's nuclear decision-making process is messy and it is intricate. Key power centers within the regime and the supreme leader play a significant part in developing the framework within which decision-making occurs. However, major choices pertaining to the direction of the program—including whether to pursue a nuclear weapon capability or whether to negotiate limits to the country's nuclear program with Western and other counterparts—happen with buy-in from relevant actors across the political system. The following is a summary of other key findings related to Iran's nuclear decision-making process:

- The supreme leader's role is often to determine the framework within which various organizations can operate and the bottom lines, redlines, and acceptable outcomes in negotiations.
- A complex web of organizations—including the executive, legislative, and judiciary branches; several intelligence organizations; and the armed forces (both the Revolutionary Guards and Artesh) and streamlined through the Supreme National Security Council—engages in a bargaining process in a feedback loop with the supreme leader's office. In terms of order of importance, the supreme leader's office is followed by the executive branch (including the Foreign Ministry and the civilian side of intelligence) and the IRGC, with the legislative branch and judiciary playing relatively minor roles.



- Although parts of this process take place in the public eye (including via statements, public meetings and conferences, in the media, and on social media), much of it occurs behind closed doors and away from external observers.
- Specific organizations and power centers have some leeway to decide and execute minor actions, but for more significant decisions, system-wide consensus is required. For example, a bloc or organization cannot singlehandedly decide to withdraw from the Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action. The high bar for system consensus on key and often controversial actions complicates efforts to change Iranian nuclear behavior and to affect its calculus.
- Just as when the system agrees upon and settles on a course of action it is difficult to overturn that consensus, the bargaining process and the disagreements among power centers afford the United States, and other interested parties, levers to curb certain components of Iran's nuclear program. For example, despite stated objectives of reaching one million Separative Work Units (SWUs), Iran does not have clear redlines on what is permissible within those confines—allowing the United States to seek concessions from it. The United States could also develop provisions while requiring technically significant concessions from Iran that are deemed less politically sensitive and visible in the country in exchange for high-profile offerings from the West.

Ultimately, Iran's fundamental decision about whether or not to negotiate with the United States and its partners and the regime's toplines and bottom lines will be determined by the system and likely will not change regardless of whether talks resume during President Hassan Rouhani's tenure or after his successor has assumed power. Any difference will likely manifest itself in the conduct of the negotiations and rapport with the United States and other counterparts, how effectively the Iranian delegation negotiating with the US and its partners can navigate its own country's politics, and the specifics left to that team's discretion.



INTRODUCTION

When Iranian revolutionaries toppled the US-aligned monarch, Mohammad Reza Shah (better known as the Shah), in 1979, they vowed to put an end to a number of initiatives he had undertaken with American support. In particular, they objected to the comprehensive military modernization projects and reforms the Shah's father, Reza Shah, had started and the Shah had carried on. Among these projects, the Iranian nuclear program—whose foundations the Shah had laid out with American aid provided as part of the Atoms for Peace initiative launched by US President Dwight Eisenhower—uniquely captured the imagination of the revolutionaries. As they saw it, this project was nothing but a waste of resources and, as Iran's future chief nuclear negotiator and later president, Hassan Rouhani, would characterize it, "great treason to the country."¹ Revolutionary leaders contended that the Shah was deceived by the Americans—as they claimed he often was—into investing in an expensive and risky endeavor whose benefits would be seen in Washington not Tehran, much less Tabriz, Shiraz, or Esfahan.

But upon taking the reins of power, that nascent regime began to reverse a number of its formative revolutionary positions and, by doing so, committed to resuming or continuing a number of the Shah's initiatives—albeit without acknowledging that it was following the monarch's footsteps. During the 1980s, as Iran was engaged in a bloody eight-year war with neighboring Iraq—a war that Baghdad started and in which it used chemical weapons and targeted population centers—the Islamic Republic's leadership resumed the country's nuclear program.² Since then, every US administration has sought to curb Tehran's nuclear program by considering the full spectrum of American foreign policy options, ranging from negotiations to sanctions to military confrontation.

To understand which options would work and how the United States can best tackle the challenge posed by the Iranian nuclear program, practitioners must first and foremost understand how the Iranians think about their nuclear program. But few have attempted to map out how the Iranian political system translates into the security realm in general and nuclear decision-making in particular. This is in part due to the complexity of the Iranian political and security ecosystems and the difficulty of fully capturing their inner workings due to the limited information available to researchers in the open source. This paper explores Iranian nuclear decision-making and its implications for US efforts to keep the Islamic Republic away from the bomb. To this end, this paper seeks to answer the following questions: What drives Iran's nuclear thinking? Which key power centers draw the contours of the country's nuclear policy?

Beyond scholars and policymakers focused on Iran and its nuclear program, such understanding is critical for the global energy and financial systems. The standoff between the West and Tehran has held sway over oil markets for over a decade, causing price moves of various magnitudes, while corporate boardrooms, banks, and financial markets have pored over developments before making investment decisions. This paper seeks to provide these energy players and wider financial stakeholders with a clearer understanding of the process at



work behind the headline decisions—although it does not elucidate processes behind energy and finance decision-making, which fall outside the scope of this report, whose sole focus is the strategic decision-making behind the Iranian nuclear program.

After discussing methodology, this report will begin by presenting an overview of the history of the Iranian nuclear program and identifying the ideas drawing the contours of Iran's national security thinking, before offering a treatment of Iran's decision-making process and how key power centers and figures whose input shapes the country's nuclear policy fit into this picture. The paper will then discuss this decision-making process in the context of Iran's nuclear program broadly. It will finally assess the efficacy of various US instruments of power in molding Iranian views on nuclear issues.



METHODOLOGY

The groundwork for this report was laid out during the 2013–15 nuclear talks leading to the signing of the Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action (JCPOA), with fieldwork conducted in Iran as well as locations hosting the negotiations between Iran and China, France, Germany, Russia, the United Kingdom, the United States (known together as the P5+1 or E3+3) and the European Union. The report relies on a number of semistructured interviews conducted during that period and the two years immediately following the JCPOA (until the US withdrawal from the deal on May 8, 2018). Finally, following the revelation of the nuclear archive uncovered by Israeli intelligence, some of the material shared in briefings informed this paper.

Nearly all the resources used in this paper—and indeed, all open source material on Iran's nuclear program—suffer from a number of shortcomings, thus restricting our ability to offer a complete account of Iran's nuclear history and its decision-making. Hence, a degree of humility in our knowledge of Iran's nuclear program and the decision-making process pertaining to it is in order, as is a healthy dose of skepticism and critical thinking. The archive has a number of limitations. First, it is comprised of documents retrieved and selected by Israeli intelligence and does not provide a comprehensive and completely unbiased account of the Iranian nuclear program. Second, despite shedding some light on Iranian nuclear decision-making, the documents seen by the author do not provide a complete picture of the process and the extent of involvement and role played by key entities. Nevertheless, the archive's material is useful in that it adds color to and fills in gaps in our knowledge of Iran's nuclear history (though it should not be assessed without exercising caution).

For example, although it would be inconceivable for the individual occupying Iran's highest office, Supreme Leader Ayatollah Ali Khamenei, not to have been involved in the decision-making process, the material uncovered by the archive as briefed to and seen by the author do not directly implicate the supreme leader. It is not clear whether such material simply does not exist due to Iranian cautiousness in linking the highest authority in the land to nuclear weapon-related efforts or if the specific batch of documents retrieved by and/or presented by the Israelis does not contain such information. The documents disclosed by Israeli intelligence and seen by the author indicate that permission was requested from and granted by Khamenei to undertake a certain action, but they do not establish or trace direct permission by Khamenei (for instance, through notes signed by him). The archive's material does not exonerate Khamenei but does point to the limits of relying solely on it to establish a chain of custody and map out Iranian decision-making. The archive does, nonetheless, provide interesting insights into the history of the Iranian nuclear program previously unknown in the open source.

Similarly, interviews do not come without their own limitations. In this case, although some of the interviewees spoke on record, much of the material from these interviews is not for attribution. Many interviewees will remain anonymous in this report according to the guidelines on ethical academic research, although this decision does entail a number of tradeoffs. Those whose assessments of the nuclear program, the negotiations, and the JCPOA are



included in this report include Iran's foreign minister and then chief nuclear negotiator, Javad Zarif; his deputies Majid Takht-e Ravanchi and Abbas Araghchi; a former Iranian representative in Vienna and to the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA), Aliasghar Soltanieh; and the former head of the Atomic Energy Organization of Iran (AEOI) who started Iran's nuclear program under the Shah, Akbar Etemad.

Here, too, there are limitations to what these sources can unveil about the Iranian nuclear program and decision-making. For example, Iranian officials have long insisted on and off the record that their country's nuclear program did not comprise a military dimension. This claim has long been debunked by academic, intelligence, and international reporting on the topic. In the case of the fieldwork conducted by the author, the interviewees undoubtedly provided only the side of the story they were willing to share due to their ideological inclinations or able to communicate due to sensitivities and political constraints. They may also have characterized aspects of their own role in the process and their relationship to other players in a manner inconsistent with how they would be perceived by other relevant actors due to personal biases and a lack of knowledge of other parts of the system. Hence, one must carefully examine Iranian claims during interviews to separate talking points and propaganda from facts, as well as events and the perceptions thereof.

These interviews complement the author's examination of existing secondary and primary sources. As such, this report relies on Iranian primary and secondary sources, as well as US and international assessments of the Iranian nuclear program and intentions (including unclassified or declassified US government documents and intelligence assessments and reports by the International Atomic Energy Agency or IAEA), media reporting, and a comprehensive scholarly literature and think tank reports. Iranian sources considered include publications on the Iranian nuclear program (such as Iranian President Hassan Rouhani's memoir and publications on the JCPOA by negotiators) and news reports from key Iranian state-affiliated outlets.



A HISTORY OF THE IRANIAN NUCLEAR PROGRAM

Throughout the 20th century, generations of leaders sought to propel Persia (as the country was known until the 1930s) and, later, Iran into modernity. To this end, they took steps to build and reinvigorate the country's key institutions, chiefly its military—which had been weakened as a result of a lack of capacity and capabilities, foreign interference in the country's domestic affairs, and corruption and mismanagement.³ As part of these efforts—and building on the foundations laid out by his father and predecessor, Reza Shah-the Shah sought to create a strong military worthy of what he viewed as the heir to a great civilization and empire and a rightful regional power during his tenure.⁴ To this end, he started a partnership with the United States upon ascending to the throne in 1941, which provided the Iranian military with training, advice, and military technology, as well as assistance to establish a new intelligence organization.⁵ Thanks to this partnership, by the time the revolutionaries overthrew the Imperial State of Iran and replaced it with the Islamic Republic of Iran in 1979, the country had become one of the top military powers in the region and was gradually asserting itself beyond its borders—chiefly, via a direct military intervention in Oman to support the sultan's struggle against Communist rebels, and indirectly by covertly supporting Shias in Lebanon and the Kurds in Iraq.⁶

The Islamic Revolution turned back the clock on these military reforms and modernization efforts: The revolutionaries weakened their country's armed forces when at the height of revolutionary zeal, they purged the Iranian military (known as the Artesh) and created a new paramilitary group in the form of the Islamic Revolutionary Guards Corps (IRGC) in the early days of the revolution. They also tore down the Iranian intelligence agency or the Organization of National Intelligence and Security (known by its Persian acronym, SAVAK), which they viewed as a US puppet designed to help suppress dissent. The implications of these steps became obvious during a bloody and devastating eight-year conflict, the Iran-Iraq War (1980-88), which started on September 22, 1980, when Saddam Hussein's Baghdad launched an attack on the Iranian Southwestern regions. The war began just months after the revolution and amid the hostage crisis—during which Iranian revolutionaries stormed the US embassy in Tehran and took members of the American diplomatic corps hostage for 444 days in 1979-81, prompting international condemnation and severing ties with the United States, which have not been restored to this day.

Having lost its key military supplier and partner and hollowed out its military and security apparatus, Tehran found itself at a disadvantage during the war. The conflict demonstrated the new regime's lack of conventional capabilities.⁷ This coupled with Saddam's willingness to use unconventional means, particularly chemical weapons, during the war would lead Iranian political leaders and military planners to consider a wide array of options to turn the tide in their favor. Hence, during and following the war, Iran would invest in a number of unconventional tools and build a hybrid military doctrine based on asymmetric means of war and operations in the gray zone—somewhere between war and peace, and never rising to the threshold of an overt and direct conflict with conventionally and technologically superior adversaries, particularly the United States.⁸



After the war, understanding that they would likely not win an all-out war with one of their chief adversaries, the United States (whose assistance was key to the development of the military capabilities of Iran's regional rivals), Iranian political leaders and military planners prioritized deterrence above all. As a result, they expanded their missile program—which the Shah had started and which the Islamic Republic had resumed during the war—and their network of proxies and nonstate partners throughout the region.⁹ Guiding their thinking was the clarity gained from the Iran-Iraq War that the country's conventional capabilities would simply not match any well-organized and well-equipped adversary, let alone the United States and its partners. Moreover, for centuries, generations of Iranian leaders had learned that their inability to deter adversaries would ultimately lead to catastrophic consequences for the nation, including the loss of sovereignty and territorial integrity, as had been the case on numerous occasions during the 19th century.

As part of their effort to build a deterrent—and despite tensions within the system about the morality and usefulness of this effort—the country's new leaders also revived the Shah's nuclear program, largely pursuing the same strategy he had undertaken: hedging. The Shah's nuclear thinking was twofold: He hoped to build a civil nuclear program while his country was in a position to invest oil revenues to secure its future and prepare for when the country needed new energy resources. At the same time, he had instructed the man in charge of his nuclear program and the Atomic Energy Organisation of Iran (AEOI), the European-educated Akbar Etemad, to explore developing weapons-related capabilities.

As Etemad recalled decades later, in 2014:

At the time, there were several reasons for Iran to start a nuclear program. Iran had a lot of money coming in. The idea was that, if today Iran can sell oil, and has oil, it needs to invest that money, that some of the oil had to be left for future generations. Nuclear energy was a good way to invest because it takes 20 to 30 years to pay off. You start to invest in it, and then after that time, it starts to show results.

But ... I wasn't sure if [the Shah] wanted energy only, or weapons too. So, I spoke to him and asked him what he wanted. I said: "I'll explain everything to you, and at the end, you can tell me what you want." ... For six months, I taught him everything from the atom, to reactors, and nuclear weapons. Then, after six months, I said, "Now that you know everything, what do you want me to do?" ... Then we spoke for two hours, about politics and the military. He said: "Today, we are the great regional power; we don't need anything. But if the balance [of power] changes in the region, if other countries get nuclear weapons, we need to have the capability for it." So, I said, "Would nuclear weapons be an option then?" He said, in English, I remember it exactly: "Why not?"

I understood that I had to prepare for that. That same day, without telling anyone, because Western countries would decrease their cooperation with us, I began the preparations. I didn't even tell anyone at the [AEOI] about this. We were trying to be ready.¹⁰

It is unlikely that Etemad's version of events is complete and fully accurate. Nevertheless, the



revolutionaries followed a similar trajectory after the regime's inception and following the start of the war. There was some debate within the system about whether Iran should pursue nuclear weapons, a civil nuclear program, neither, or both. And it is not fully apparent which components of the nuclear program Iranian decision makers viewed as directly tied to their weapons-related efforts, which (if any) were deemed only relevant to the civil program. For example, Etemad claimed that the organization he was overseeing did not explore working on the fuel cycle besides some experiments with laser enrichment.¹¹ Later, the country would pursue elements of the fuel cycle with a focus on its front end, uranium enrichment, a fact Etemad (like many other observers) viewed as providing evidence that Tehran was interested in obtaining a nuclear weapon.¹²

But inside the Iranian system, the topic of nuclear energy and nuclear weapons remained a source of contention. From the perspective of some key security officials and military planners, nuclear weapons would provide Iran and the regime with a deterrent, serving both chief objectives of national security and regime survival.¹³ A key individual within the regime pushing for nuclear acquisition was Aliakbar Hashemi-Rafsanjani (1934-2017), who would become one of the most influential leaders in postrevolutionary Iran, occupying a number of different posts, including the office of the presidency. However, there was also significant dissent among some of the clerics. Notably, the founder of the Islamic Republic and its first supreme leader, Ayatollah Ruhollah Khomeini (1902-1989), initially objected to Iran obtaining nuclear weapons as he believed this would be against the prescriptions of Shia jurisprudence.¹⁴ He appears to have changed his mind at some point during the first half of the Iran-Iraq War (around 1984) due to the dissonance between the faith's prescriptions and the exigencies of warfare.¹⁵ As the internal debates about the fate of Iran's nuclear program have not been recorded in public documents, we do not have a clear understanding of when and how this shift occurred. Nevertheless, ultimately, as those familiar with the deliberations have put it, the regime settled on acquiring nuclear weapons but only as a deterrent.¹⁶

There was also some discussion about the country's international obligations under the nonproliferation regime and its cornerstone, the Nuclear Nonproliferation Treaty (NPT). As Iran's representative to the IAEA, Aliasghar Soltanieh, would later put it:

After any change of system, you have to sit down and think about all the treaties. It wasn't just a change of government. It was the entire system. So, after the revolution, the questions were: Should we have nuclear energy and should we have nuclear weapons? Nuclear technology is the flagship and combination of all other tech and science, therefore, important to all progress. ... At the time, we could have left NPT, people would have understood it, and it would have been natural given the change. Most countries were not even members of the NPT yet, but Iran decided to stay a signatory.¹⁷

Ultimately, Iranian decision makers chose to remain in the NPT and revive their country's dormant energy program. However, as it had long been suspected and is now clear from the IAEA's reporting and the nuclear archives discovered by Mossad, the Israeli intelligence agency, the Islamic Republic also began working on a covert weaponization program by the late 1980s, known as project Amad.¹⁸ What is not clear is whether the decision was made to



pursue a concerted nuclear weapons program or to undertake ad hoc efforts by leveraging what was available to the country at the time. It is also difficult to assess which elements of the program were seen by decision makers as designed for the civil nuclear program and which were introduced as part of its military component (and whether the division was apparent to those deliberating at a high level).

Iran first sought to complete the Bushehr Nuclear Power Plant (BNPP), which had been left unfinished with the advent of the revolution when its German supplier followed other Western companies and left the country. The existing sources do not conclusively tell us whether Iranian decision makers saw Bushehr as completely distinct from the weapons-related elements of their country's nuclear program and simply designed for power generation purposes, as a mere cover for their efforts to acquire the bomb, or as a potential component of their weapons-related research and development. But Bushehr would take decades to complete before becoming the region's first nuclear power plant; it would not be viewed as a proliferation concern unlike other components of Iran's nuclear program developed later.

The primary reason behind the effort to develop nuclear capabilities was likely to add a nuclear deterrent to the panoply of Iranian tools, including its ballistic missiles and nonstate partners. Iran appeared to be pursuing the same dual-track strategy as that of the Shah. Tehran would strive to acquire a civil nuclear program in the interest of an objective long advocated by Iranian statesmen from the Shah to Prime Minister Mohammad Mossadeq— who had championed the nationalization of oil and the concept of "negative equilibrium," a strategy designed to end all reliance on foreign players as opposed to the policy of balancing long prevalent in Persia—and, now, the Islamic Republic.¹⁹ This goal was to render the country less reliant on other powers, as well as on oil and fossil fuels. There was also a prestige-related factor at play as Iran sought to enter an exclusive club of nations equipped with the technology. In parallel, the country would pursue covert activities, designed to prepare the groundwork for a dash to the bomb if and when needed.

The father of the Pakistani nuclear weapons program, Abdul Qadeer (A. Q.) Khan traveled to Tehran and Bushehr in 1986 to meet with one of the key players in the IRGC, Mohammad Eslami, before officially visiting the country again a year later.²⁰ During a meeting at Tehran's Amir Kabir University of Technology, he reportedly advised the Iranians to pursue weaponization through uranium enrichment, rather than via Bushehr.²¹ Cooperation between the two countries expanded in 1988 with the end of the Iran-Iraq War, enabling Tehran to allocate more resources to revive its nuclear program. Around this time, Tehran appears to have started project Amad in earnest. This shift was facilitated by a number of other developments in Iranian domestic politics, including the death of Khomeini, who despite agreeing to resume the country's nuclear activities appeared to have nonetheless never fully endorsed the pursuit of nuclear Rafsanjani to the presidency and his ability to play a growing role in the Iranian political ecosystem for the next few decades.

As the IAEA would later report, the Iranian nuclear program would proceed in three phases from there onward (although these are not completely distinct and clear cut). First, from the late 1980s until 2003, Iran would undertake a coordinated nuclear weapons program as part



of project Amad. Second, it would conduct some feasibility studies in the 2003–09 timeframe. Finally, from 2009 onward, the US intelligence community has found that "Iran is not currently undertaking the key nuclear weapons-development activities we judge necessary to produce a nuclear device."²² It remains unclear whether the Trump administration's decision to withdraw from the JCPOA and to reimpose sanctions on Iran, as well as to kill the country's top military commander, Maj. Gen. Qassem Soleimani, will affect the regime's decisionmaking and drive it to end this third phase, ushering in a new stage of the Iranian nuclear program. Likewise, the impact on Iran's nuclear decision-making of a series of explosions and fires occurring in military and nuclear facilities (Natanz among them); civilian sites such as factories, warehouses, and power plants; and ships off of the country's coast in the Persian Gulf in the summer of 2020 remains unknown.

As part of the first phase and throughout the 1990s, Iran expanded its enrichment program and undertook work on a heavy water reactor, which would be able to produce plutonium. These activities were almost exclusively undeclared to the IAEA at the time. This phase of the covert Iranian nuclear program, which comprised all work under the Amad plan and which the IAEA has characterized as a "coordinated" nuclear weapon development program, ended in the early 2000s—though the facilities built in that period and some of the activities related to them, including building the heavy water reactor and enrichment, have continued. At that time, the nuclear program appeared more like a liability than a tool enhancing security and deterrence.²³ Indeed, by 2003, the National Council of Resistance of Iran (NCRI), the political wing of the Mujahedin-e Khalq (MeK), then designated by the United States and Europe as a terrorist organization, had revealed Iran's covert facilities, and the United States had invaded Iraq on the grounds that Saddam was pursuing weapons of mass destruction. The breadth and depth of the A. Q. Khan network's activities had been exposed and was essentially being dismantled.

Now sandwiched between Afghanistan and Iraq, two countries with significant US military presence and seemingly next on the George W. Bush administration's list of candidates for regime change, Iran moved to the second phase of its postrevolution nuclear development, which lasted until 2009. At the same time, however, the combination of the regional landscape and the revelations of Iranian covert nuclear activities also triggered diplomatic pressure, mainly from Europe, which prompted the first round of the nuclear talks (2003–05). In 2003, Fereydoun Abbasi, a nuclear scientist who was a key player in the Iranian nuclear weapons program and later served as the head of AEOI, noted that "we should make a distinction between 'overt' and 'covert' activities."²⁴ During this phase, Iran conducted "feasibility and scientific studies" and pursued "the acquisition of certain relevant technical competences and capabilities."²⁵





Figure 1: Iranian facilities linked to its nuclear program

Sources: BBC's "Iran's key nuclear sites," July 14, 2015; United States Institute of Peace, "The Iran Primer," Oct. 6, 2010

As noted previously, since the end of that period, the US intelligence community has repeatedly assessed that "Iran is not currently undertaking the key nuclear weapons-development activities we judge necessary to produce a nuclear device."²⁶ However, it has also evaluated that "Iran is keeping open the option to develop nuclear weapons, in part by developing various nuclear capabilities that better position it to produce such weapons, should it choose to do so. We do not know, however, if Iran will eventually decide to build nuclear weapons."²⁷ The 2019 US Department of State Compliance Report noted that "Iran's efforts to retain records from its past nuclear weapons program, the preservation of which is now public knowledge thanks to Israel's seizure and disclosure of much of this information—as well as Iran's steps to keep former weapons program scientists employed on weaponization-relevant dual-use technical activities, and under the continued leadership of the former head of that program, Mohsen Fakhrizadeh—suggest that Iran preserved information from its historical efforts to aid in any future decision to pursue nuclear weapons, if a decision were made to do so."²⁸ This again highlights the fact that these phases may not be as distinct from one another.

Nevertheless, this period also saw two rounds of intensive diplomatic efforts to curb Iran's nuclear program. First, in 2003–2005, Germany, France, and the United Kingdom (known together as the EU3 or E3) led an unsuccessful process aiming to curb Iran's nuclear activities and, later, in 2012–15, joined by the rest of the P5+1 and led by the United States, they negotiated the JCPOA. This second round came on the heels of US-led international sanctions and events that almost brought the United States (and Israel) to the brink of kinetic strikes against the Iranian nuclear infrastructure. The combination of these measures undertaken under US leadership by the international community, chiefly the P5+1, were critical to building leverage to curb Iran's nuclear program.



CORE CONCEPTS OF IRANIAN STRATEGIC THINKING

Deterrence

The US intelligence community's assessments of Iran's nuclear thinking today highlight the continuity in the pre- and postrevolution periods. Iran's historical experiences have largely framed the country's security narrative, threat perceptions, and policy responses to specific crises and challenges. Iranian officials often refer to such events as the Iran-Iraq War in international fora to explain their behavior. The war highlighted Iran's vulnerability and the extent and significance of its conventional shortcomings.²⁹ The conduct of that war made clear to Iranian decision makers and military planners that force-on-force conflict with the United States would likely not end well for their country.³⁰

In a rare interview with a news outlet in fall 2019 (and one of his last exchanges with the press), then IRGC-Quds Force commander, Qassem Soleimani, also noted the importance of the 1991 Gulf War and the post-9/11 US invasions of Afghanistan and Iraq as key in shaping Iranian threat perceptions and views of US power:

Following Saddam's attack against Kuwait in 1991 and subsequently, America's invasion and Saddam's defeat, a military deposit formed in our region, which led to the deployment of U.S. forces. But since 9/11, due to the two heavy invasions that America led (of Afghanistan and Iraq), nearly 40 percent of the armed forces at America's disposal directly entered our region and, later, during this time and due to the replacements and changes that have occurred, even led to the presence of the reserves and the National Guards, meaning that more than 60 percent of America's military ... entered our region.³¹

As a result, Tehran designed a doctrine based on deterrence, which sought to raise the costs of targeting the nation through mostly unconventional means and force multipliers such as its missile capability.³² In the event that deterrence would fail and the US initiated a military effort aimed at regime change, Iran would opt for a war of attrition: "The country's military doctrine defies simple categorization into offensive, defensive, or deterrent models. It is designed to deter adversaries and retaliate if deterrence fails."³³ As the Iranians see it, if their country is to repel potential future aggression, it can only do so using its *own* unconventional capabilities. As the wars of the past centuries (going back to the 18th century) have shown, the country cannot rely on treaties and agreements, international laws and institutions, or great powers' assurances to secure itself.

Self-Reliance

For Iran, fundamental assumptions about military power include the idea that the country must remain a force to be reckoned with in its region and the importance of deterrence, as well as the notions of self-reliance, the nation's ability to stand on its own two feet to safeguard its security and interests, and a severe distrust of the international order and the



great powers.³⁴ As Iranian officials often remind their US, European, and Arab counterparts and as we will see later—the Iranians believe that their country's security cannot and is not provided by or "purchased" from others.³⁵ In other words, unlike some of its neighbors, which outsource their security, Tehran tries to provide for its own security and defense needs and has placed an emphasis on building capacity indigenously.

Iranians have learned the hard way that their military is no match for great powers. Reza Shah and the Shah both tried to build conventional capabilities but ultimately failed to render their country less vulnerable. By the late 1970s, Iran had a large military, supported by one of the world's two superpowers and equipped with state-of-the-art weapons and technology. But it remained largely vulnerable to foreign powers. Hence, the revolutionaries decided to adopt an entirely different approach. In the words of Foreign Minister Javad Zarif:

If you look at our region, there are different countries that get their legitimacy, authority, power and, for some, even their internal legitimacy from their engagement with the outside [world]. They're either under a military umbrella or in need of protection and that is how they present themselves [on the international stage]; from the protection of weapon purchases to other kinds of protection. The only country that has been able to stand on its own two feet and make progress despite foreign pressure is the Islamic Republic.³⁶

Although they cannot be taken at face value, the Iranian arguments about the need to develop an indigenous nuclear program in general and enrichment capabilities in particular have largely rested on the premise of self-reliance. And although these themes do not gain traction with Western audiences, they do resonate within the Iranian populace and even with some other countries. According to Iranian officials, Iranians relearned the lesson that their country must stand on its own two feet following the revolution, when Iran was denied access to external suppliers. One episode is particularly relevant in this context and brought up in nearly every interview conducted by the author (not just by current officials but even critics of the regime). In the 1970s, several European nations formed EURODIF, a conglomerate designed to provide European nonnuclear weapon states under the NPT with enriched uranium for civil use while minimizing the risk and prospect of nuclear weapon proliferation. The endeavor was based in France, a nuclear weapon state under the NPT with an advanced nuclear infrastructure, which helped provide the partner countries (all nonnuclear weapon states) with the fuel needed for their civil nuclear program while minimizing the proliferation concerns of developing a fuel cycle infrastructure indigenously. These nations would buy into the joint venture, and France would enrich uranium and sell it to them.

When Sweden sold its share to Iran, the country became the only non-European partner in the arrangement at the time. The Shah invested \$1 billion in 1974 to help with the construction of the plant, which would grant it access to 10 percent of the enriched uranium.³⁷ After the Shah was deposed and the revolutionaries took the reins of power in Iran, the country withdrew from the venture, and with the war starting, its nascent nuclear infrastructure crumbled.³⁸ In court, Iran argued that EURODIF should issue a repayment to the country as no uranium was transferred to Iran.³⁹ According to the Iranians, the contract was not between the Shah and the French government but Iran and France. For its part, concerned about supplying the new



revolutionary regime with nuclear technology and fissile material (especially given Iranian support for terrorist groups throughout the decade), Paris contested the claims: the Iranians, the French argued, should pay damages to compensate French companies hurt by the sudden abrogation of the contract.⁴⁰

Later, when the revolutionaries decided to resume the nuclear program, Iran sought to revive its cooperation with EURODIF. It was, however, unable to return into the arrangement, and not only did Tehran never receive any enriched uranium and had to wait over a decade to settle the matter in court, but France repaid part of the debt, and Iran paid damages to French companies.⁴¹ As the Iranians tell the story, it was an important driver behind their country's decision to develop an indigenous enrichment program. Although the lessons learned from the episode may have factored into the decision-making, it is clear that this was far from the only reason why Iran pursued enrichment starting in the 1980s, as military considerations also came into play. Etemad explained it thusly: "In the first few years [of the Islamic Republic], the [AEOI] was destroyed. The theory, at that point, like many other things at that time, was that the United States had imposed nuclear energy on us. ... They [the Islamic Republic] went and bought centrifuges from Pakistan, and tried to enrich Uranium. ... From the beginning, they wanted to have all the options. ... I'll tell you why I say this. The reason is that they only went after enrichment. Nothing else, just enrichment."⁴²

Nevertheless, the EURODIF experience shaped the contours of some of Iran's decisions regarding its nuclear activities and, perhaps more pertinently, the nuclear talks. In both rounds of nuclear negotiations, the Iranians rejected "zero enrichment," arguing that they would need to preserve what they claim is their "inalienable right" to enrich under the NPT—though this is a contested interpretation of the treaty. During the second round of nuclear talks, the Iranian side would develop the concept of "practical needs" or how much enriched fissile material it would require to fuel its reactors should international suppliers once again fail to deliver their end of the bargain as they did during the EURODIF episode.⁴³

Asymmetric Warfare

The core pillars of Iran's defense thinking lie in its belief that it must deter adversaries from attacking Iranian national and regime interests while ensuring that if deterrence fails, the country is equipped with a means of denying the adversary a win. In the context of deterrence, Iran had sought to develop a nuclear capability while building up its missile and proxy forces. But unable to obtain a nuclear capability and given its security needs stemming from its adversarial relationship with the United States and regional rivalries, the country has adopted a predominantly asymmetric approach to warfare. This allows Iran to compete with nuclear-armed and conventionally superior adversaries, such as the United States and Israel.⁴⁴

As Zarif explained, "[Our] view of foreign policy must be a comprehensive one. What has created power for the Islamic Republic is the asymmetric factor. Although other factors of power exist elsewhere. The Islamic Republic has made considerable progress in the material elements of power, but it is still lacking superiority vis-à-vis other regional players in an equation, especially international actors. But where the Islamic Republic has a special advantage is in the Islamic Revolution's discourse, one based on self-reliance



and independence."45

Iran's security needs and concerns have also led an often isolated and conventionally inferior Iran to seek to avoid direct conflict with these adversaries, instead leveraging nonstate actors for deterrence and to assert influence.⁴⁶ This view also entails efforts to build various key defense programs, including nuclear and other weapons of mass destruction programs, as well as missile, space, drone, and cyber programs.⁴⁷ These programs are all designed to increase the cost of targeting Iran for its adversaries, while lowering the costs associated with deterrence and defense for the country.



IRANIAN NUCLEAR DECISION-MAKING

The Islamic Republic's Decision-Making Process

Tehran's security policies are the result of intricate bargaining games and the sum of the outputs of a complex web of institutions within the political and security establishments.⁴⁸ This web is comprised of the supreme leader's office; the executive, legislative, and judiciary branches; several intelligence organizations; and the armed forces—both the IRGC and Artesh—and streamlined through the Supreme National Security Council. In terms of order of importance, the supreme leader's office is followed by the executive branch (including the Foreign Ministry and the civilian side of intelligence) and the IRGC, with the legislative branch and judiciary playing relatively minor roles. Ultimately, these processes lead to system-wide decisions on the trajectory of the country's nuclear program and the nature and scope of it. This is not to say that consensus is necessary for more minor decisions, particularly those taken in the technical and operational realms and which are less significant in their strategic implications. Some decisions appear to be made when buy-in from smaller, immediately relevant entities is secured. However, major steps taken on the contours of Iran's nuclear program are the result of system-wide decisions.

In other words, decisions made to accelerate certain nuclear activities and the degree of compliance with international obligations are not the result of hard-liners' attempts to undermine or humiliate moderates as some observers claim during key junctures but are rather system-wide outputs. This does not imply that Iranian decision-making is monolithic or even purely rational. Infighting and debates can be robust despite the limits imposed by the system. For example, Iran's very adherence to the NPT has been a subject of debate within the system, as have questions pertaining to the country's cooperation with the IAEA, the need for domestic enrichment and even nuclear power, and the timing and scope of negotiations on the Iranian nuclear program. But should Iran choose to withdraw from the NPT, kick out international inspectors and dial down its cooperation with the IAEA, or accept to extend the sunsets on its enrichment program in future negotiations with the United States, it would do so after building consensus and as a unitary state. This decision-making is not always purely rational or driven by national interests. In fact, many of Iran's decisions are driven by its perceptions of its historical experiences and feelings associated with them.⁴⁹

That Iran's security output is defined by the internal push and pull between different organizations and power centers is critical. Each of these institutions has its own subculture, defined as "a subsection of the broader strategic community with reasonably distinct beliefs and attitudes on strategic issues, with distinct and historically traceable analytical traditions."⁵⁰ In Iran, some of these organizations predate the Islamic Republic and go back decades or even centuries; others were created during or after the revolution. As a result of the redundancies in Iran's power structure, different organizations with similar or overlapping mandates can experience tensions and compete for resources and influence. This colors their deliberations internally and engagement with other organizations. Moreover, the history and culture of each organization come into play in these bargaining games and feed into the contours of the country's policies. For example, while the Artesh holds its roots in Imperial



Iran, the IRGC was a bottom-up creation by the revolutionaries. The Artesh was seen as beholden to the nation and not the nascent regime, as it demonstrated during the revolution that it "loath[ed] confront[ing] the Iranian people," even after its leadership handed the Artesh to the revolutionaries.⁵¹

As a result, these two arms of Iran's forces have distinct subcultures, which, in turn, shape their beliefs and attitudes on security issues. And while most of Iran's security apparatuses were created after the revolution, many were established on the ashes of the security organizations of the prerevolution era. For instance, Iran created the Ministry of Intelligence and Security (MOIS) in 1983. But the ministry succeeded the SAVAK. The revolutionaries dismantled the SAVAK upon seizing power. But before long, they realized that governing a country and tackling a foreign adversary on the battlefield and domestic threats on the streets of various cities required a capable intelligence agency. As a result, they first created ad hoc committees (known as *komīteh*, in Persian) tasked with intelligence and counterintelligence, before establishing MOIS (while developing parallel and redundant organizations tasked with intelligence and counterintelligence) and building capacity by granting SAVAK operatives immunity to help ensure a smooth transition.⁵²

This complex web of organizations engages in a messy bargaining process, some of which takes place in the public sphere but much of which remains hidden from external observers. The Islamic Republic's national security decisions result from this process. Each of these organizations is, in turn, divided into a number of different entities. As a result, far from a top-down exercise by a single individual, Iran's decision-making process is, in fact, the outcome of intense feedback loops within and between different power centers. That said, the supreme leader no doubt plays a critical role in framing the national security discourse and forming the framework within which policies are devised and implemented. Hence, the supreme leader's veto power grants him the ability to remove any item he does not wish to see executed from the deliberations agenda—although Khamenei has revealed himself to be reluctant to use his veto power unless he seemingly viewed the matter at hand as absolutely critical, an approach that his successor may or may not adopt.

Understanding this decision-making process is important for several reasons. Practical considerations make it critical to understand how Iran's policy outputs are shaped in order to identify pressure points in future efforts to curb the Iranian nuclear program in the context of the country dialing down its JCPOA implementation or perhaps even leaving the agreement or the NPT. Moreover, pinpointing the players involved in establishing security policies is key to comprehending what concepts and considerations shape decision makers' calculations. Scholars, policy circles, and media outlets have attempted to shed light on the Iranian political system for decades.⁵³ And during each major Iranian political event, including presidential and parliamentary elections, charts of the country's political system emerge again.

In the context of security decision-making, the supreme leader's role is often to determine the framework within which these organizations can operate and the bottom lines, redlines, and acceptable outcomes. This is not a one-sided process, and in establishing these redlines and bottom lines, the supreme leader also consults other power centers.⁵⁴ The supreme leader provides the green light to pursue a course of action and establishes a framework within



which policymaking takes place. The Supreme National Security Council (SNSC)—composed of representatives from all key power centers within the regime and tasked with formulating Iran's strategic interests to protect national security—turns this framework into an "actionable" policy plan.



Figure 2: Iran nuclear decision-making process and power centers

IRGC (Hossein Salami, commander in chief)

- Provides some facilities and assists procurement efforts
- In charge of missle program (used in potential nuclear weapon development)

AEOI (Aliakbar Salehi)

- Responsible for overseeing nuclear program
- Provides technical advice on nuclear capabilities needed and implements those steps

Supreme Leader (Ayatollah Ali Khamenei)

- Defines framework within which decision-making takes place
- Veto power over all programs and initiatives undertaken in defense and security
- Lay out redlines for negotiations

SNSC (Ali Shamkhani)

• Feedback loop to build coherent process involving different power centers to streamline decision-making and formalize decisions

Majles (Mohammad Bager Qalibaf*)

- Legislative process provides checks on executive branch decisions
- Turns into law key redlines
- President and Cabinet (Hassan Rouhani)
- Appoints cabinet, including defense and foreign ministers
- Since Rouhani's election in 2013, MFA has taken the lead on nuclear negotiations
- Ministry of Defense involved in nuclear weapons-related components of nuclear program
- MOIS involved in weapons development efforts

*Note: Qalibaf succeeded Ali Larijani as Majles speaker following the 2020 parliamentary elections. Source: Author's compilation



This policy is then implemented by the executive branch, the president and his cabinet. The IRGC often follows the supreme leader, and in certain specific areas, along with the executive branch, it turns this policy into strategy and extricates operational and tactical level actionables from it. The legislative branch or the Majles, whose powers are fairly limited, is meant to check the executive branch. Parliamentarians seek to hold the executive branch accountable. The parliament is also responsible for turning specific policies into laws, whose legality and compatibility with the constitution must be assessed by the Guardian Council.⁵⁵ The council is charged with assessing the policies presented by the executive branch and laws drafted by the legislator against the regime's fundamental beliefs and redlines.

Several key power centers play an important role in the Iranian nuclear decision-making process. Israeli intelligence assessments indicate a degree of streamlining in Iran's decisionmaking process, which included the establishment of the Supreme Council for Advanced Technologies in 1998.⁵⁶ The council included then President Mohammad Khatami, then SNSC secretary Rouhani, then Minister of Defense Ali Shamkhani, and then AEOI head Reza Aghazadeh.⁵⁷ According to documents released by Israeli intelligence, Aghazadeh signed an agreement with Shamkhani, which provided for coordination and information sharing between the AEOI and the Ministry of Defense (and the president's office), as well as the stipulation of specific actions to be undertaken in enrichment.⁵⁸ This included a provision granting the Ministry of Defense the authority to enrich uranium from 3 percent to above 90 percent.⁵⁹ Beyond these two organizations, a number of other organizations are outlined in the Iranian documents retrieved by the Israelis. "The Group of Eight," as Iranian documents refer to them, consists of active and passive members. The former comprises the IRGC-Quds Force, IRGC Air Force, and Iranian law enforcement or Niro-ye Entezami-e Jomhoori-e Eslami-e Iran (NAJA). The passive members include the Ministry of Intelligence and Security, the intelligence unit, the judiciary, and customs.⁶⁰



Figure 3: Makeup of "Group of Eight"



The Decision-Making Process and Nuclear Policy

Nuclear Talks and the JCPOA

Given their importance and sensitive nature, the 2012–15 nuclear negotiations leading to the JCPOA illustrate this map perfectly. The "Iran talks," as they were known, were shaped by internal bargaining at home as much as they were by the negotiations taking place around the table with the P5+1. Khamenei provided the green light for the nuclear talks to commence and set the framework within which various organizations could operate. This framework was composed of a number of loose "redlines," which determined Iran's bottom lines, while granting the negotiators some room to maneuver and sell the deal domestically, including to the hardliners.⁶¹ There were broadly two sets of redlines guiding the nuclear negotiations. First, Iran returned to the negotiating table with a set of assumptions about the future of its nuclear program, sanctions relief, and other items its counterparts could introduce in the talks, including the country's missile activities. Second, a number of redlines were later added to these in an ad hoc manner to tackle new issues emerging in the negotiations.

Both sets of redlines appear to have been formulated through a feedback loop created between key power centers involved in the nuclear program—including in consultation with the AEOI, Ministry of Defense, MOIS, key IRGC affiliates, and the SNSC. There is limited visibility over how these redlines were formed. The first set of redlines existed prior to the beginning of the nuclear negotiations. This set of redlines was created to meet both Iran's "practical needs" in its overt nuclear energy program and what the Group of Eight likely identified as the needs for the covert weapons-related activities should they be continued. They included

- a narrow mandate focused exclusively on the nuclear issue (not missile or regional activities);
- preserving the Iranian nuclear program, including research and development (R&D) and the enrichment program;
- keeping key facilities, particularly Fordow, open and functioning.

All in all, Khamenei issued 11 redlines for the nuclear talks at the outset. However, some were clearly symbolic and were disregarded within weeks of the negotiations resuming. Others were actual bottom lines that Iranian negotiators could not compromise. For example, although Khamenei had ordered broadly that the Iranian delegation "should not accept any impositions from the other side," Tehran did make a number of concessions by accepting limits on its enrichment program and R&D, as well as enhanced verification and monitoring. Iranian negotiators were able to sell the deal at home as meeting these requirements, by noting that the country had not accepted any limitations that would be considered impositions and that the deal was entirely reciprocal and voluntary.

Other redlines were overcome thanks to creative solutions that would allow the United States and its partners to have confidence that the proliferation risks posed by Iranian activities were limited while allowing Tehran to sell them using the framework established by Khamenei. For



instance, Fordow remained open, meeting Khamenei's bottom line, but it was repurposed to become an R&D site, meeting the United States and its partners' proliferation concerns. In some cases, the Iranian side did not have a clear and coherent idea of its wishes and redlines. That was notably the case in the context of sanctions relief, which by some Iranian officials' own admission in interviews was an area in which the delegation was not proficient.

In the case of the second set of redlines, some instances appeared to be discussed in public and created as the negotiations progressed—that was the case when Iranian negotiators and their American counterparts were reportedly debating the possibility of the emerging agreement granting IAEA inspectors access to military facilities and facilitating interviews with Iranian nuclear scientists. Khamenei appeared in public rejecting both notions, arguing that this would be a breach of national sovereignty, jeopardize national defense secrets, and put at risk Iranian scientists (some of whom had been assassinated in years prior).⁶² These redlines seemed to be formulated as exigencies emerged during the negotiations.

The SNSC turned this framework into an "actionable" policy plan, which was executed by the president and his Foreign Ministry, as well as the AEOI. The IRGC followed Khamenei's lead and cautiously endorsed the nuclear talks.⁶³ At the same time, in consultation with the Foreign Ministry, the IRGC executed policies to facilitate the nuclear talks and, later, implement the JCPOA—for example, by ensuring the quick release of the US sailors whose ships had crossed into Iranian waters in the Persian Gulf close to an IRGC base on Farsi Island in January 2016.⁶⁴

However, while it was helping the talks on some level, the IRGC also played a counterproductive role on other fronts. For example, the Guards put pressure on the government by arresting dual nationals, particularly US citizens, to make sure the talks did not lead to a broader and more fundamental normalization with America. The Majles, for its part, became a platform where the legislative and executive branches debated the policies despite playing a fairly minor role, forcing the president and the Foreign Ministry to be accountable by presenting quarterly reports on the JCPOA's implementation. The Iran talks were driven and shaped by several key tenets of Iranian strategic culture.

First, from Iran's perspective, returning to the negotiating table was not just an economic matter; it was also a national security priority. As Rouhani and others would often argue during the talks and, later, to defend their legacy even after Trump's withdrawal from it and in light of the maximum pressure campaign, Iran had to choose between negotiating and war. In that sense, Tehran agreed to return to the table to "deter" the adversary—the United States and Israel, which were contemplating military action to curtail Iran's nuclear program shortly before the talks started in 2012.⁶⁵ Second, Iran also initiated the diplomatic process due to the belief that political and economic isolation had limited the country's ability to hold what Iranians viewed as its rightful place in the world.⁶⁶ Third, the country's belief that it must be a force to be reckoned with, combined with its conviction that it should be able to stand on its own two feet and be self-reliant in key areas, drew the contours of the nuclear talks.⁶⁷ Lastly, the notion that Iran could not trust foreign powers was a powerful force during the process.⁶⁸

As noted above, Khamenei captured these tenets of Iranian thinking and turned them into redlines for the negotiators, providing the framework for the talks.⁶⁹ The SNSC oversaw the process and ensured that the negotiators were operating within the framework set by



Khamenei. The IRGC worked in tandem with the supreme leader's office to ensure the formal negotiations remained contained and did not overreach and spill into other areas—even though, on the sidelines, the negotiators did frequently cover regional developments and the fate of the hostages held in Iran.⁷⁰ The Majles, too, sought to check the president and his cabinet and put pressure on the executive.⁷¹ It is critical to note that while this description may indicate a "whole of government approach," as witnessed in the United States, the reality of Iranian decision-making can be messier.

As then Deputy Foreign Minister and negotiator Majid Ravanchi put it during the final stretch of the nuclear talks, "The agreement has to be submitted to the Majles by the Foreign Ministry ... we have to work within the framework set up by the Majles. The Majles is very active on this. As the government, we have to listen to the Majles, and they give us the framework to operate within."⁷² Although Ravanchi was likely exaggerating the extent of the Majles' authority to shape the course of events for domestic and external consumption, the Majles did play a role in checking the executive—albeit often more symbolically so. Taking all these checks into consideration, the Foreign Ministry, assisted by the AEOI, negotiated and crafted the nuclear deal with the P5+1, before taking each component of the emerging deal back to Tehran and each of these centers of power and negotiating them there.⁷³ The negotiators would then return to New York, Lausanne, Geneva, or Vienna, and present the output to their counterparts and repeat the process.

Post-JCPOA Withdrawal

Following President Trump's announcement that he was withdrawing the United States from the JCPOA on May 8, 2018, many speculated that Tehran, too, would leave the deal. However, the day after the US decision became public, Khamenei indicated otherwise: Iran would be preparing itself for the collapse of the agreement, but it would not withdraw from it.⁷⁴ Instead, Tehran would work with the Europeans (as well as China and Russia) to find a way forward on sustaining the JCPOA without the United States.⁷⁵ Having laid out the framework within which the country would execute its post-US JCPOA withdrawal nuclear policy, Khamenei instructed the AEOI to determine what steps to take to prepare for a potential collapse of the deal. The AEOI would implement these steps. In consultation with the SNSC, the AEOI identified these steps and began to lay out the groundwork for their execution.

On May 8, 2019—which marked the anniversary of the US withdrawal from the deal, and responding to the administration's maximum pressure campaign, whose most recent target was the IRGC with its designation as a Foreign Terrorist Organization (FTO)—Rouhani made some public remarks, explaining Iran's next steps with regard to the JCPOA.⁷⁶ He noted that the era of "strategic patience," in which Iran implemented the JCPOA and pursued negotiations with Europe, was over. The remarks introduced a series of incremental and largely reversible steps, designed to force the United States into dialing down pressure on Iran and to compel Europe to step up its efforts to shield Iran from US sanctions.⁷⁷ This decision was made in the SNSC and as part of the broader Iranian strategy to counter and undermine the US maximum pressure campaign—which included military efforts in the Persian Gulf and Strait of Hormuz, as well as the threat of action by proxies in Iraq.⁷⁸ And Iran's measures were proposed by the AEOI, approved by the SNSC, and implemented by the AEOI.⁷⁹ Now, with



Iran once again under yet more pressure, whether or not the country further dials down its implementation of the JCPOA will be determined in a similar fashion.

Figure 4: Key players in Iran's nuclear program

Ayatollah Ali Khamenei

President (1981-89)

- Supreme Leader (1989-present)
- Oversaw genesis of post 1979 nuclear program as president

Aliakbar Salehi

AEOI head (2013-present) Foreign Minister (2011-13)

- Played key role in JCPOA talks
- Advised and implemented post-US withdrawal JCPOA violations

Ayatollah Aliakbar Rafsanjani

President (1989-97)

Chairman of Expediency Council and Assembly of Experts (1989-2017 and 2007-11)

• Played key role in decision to resume nuclear activities after the revolution, and likely in pushing Iran toward nuclear weapons research and development until 2003

Ali Shamkhani

Rear Admiral in IRGC Navy Minister of Defense (1997-2005) SNSC Secretary (2013-present) • One of key players in nuclear weapons program

Mohammad Javad Zarif

UN Ambassador (2002-07) Foreign Minister (2013-present) Chief nuclear negotiator (2013-15)

- Assisted Rouhani in 2003-05 talks
- Chief nuclear negotiator (2013-15)
- JCPOA champion

Ali Larijani

Majles Speaker (2008-20) SNSC Secretary (2005-07)

- Played key role in facilitating JCPOA success
- Was succeeded by Mohammad Bager Qalibaf as Majles speaker following the 2020 parliamentary elections

Hassan Rouhani

- President (2013-21)
- Oversaw 2012-15 talks
- Chief nuclear negotiator (2003-05)
- Likely played key role in nuclear decision-making prior to 2003

Source: Author's compilation



CONCLUSION AND IMPLICATIONS

Bargaining within Iran's key power centers shapes its nuclear decision-making, which results from its consensus-building effort. The process remains fairly opaque and so do key components of it. This makes it difficult to adequately understand Iran's nuclear intentions fully and to separate stated objectives and policies from the leadership's actual intent. Similarly, the complexity and opacity of the Iranian nuclear decision-making process makes it more difficult to anticipate Iranian actions and reactions to US decisions. This entails some implications for US policy toward Iran going forward.

First, unlike what is sometimes assumed, key nuclear decisions are not typically made by a single organization within the system. Instead, a green light from the relevant organs within the system is needed to move forward with a particular course of action (though minor technical actions may not need a full consensus-based decision involving all bodies). Hence, hardliners, for example, are not able to play spoiler by taking steps outside the JCPOA generally frowned upon by the rest of the system. This has positive and negative implications for the United States. The high bar for system consensus on key and often controversial actions complicates efforts to change Iranian nuclear behavior and to affect its calculus. For example, should the system come to the conclusion that it must acquire a nuclear weapon, US sticks and carrots would have a limited impact on Iran's calculus.

At the same time, it would appear that once a decision has been made to engage the United States on the fate of the nuclear program and/or curb it, one entity would unlikely be successful in prompting a reversal singlehandedly, including the traditional spoilers. As a result, the United States need not worry about Iran's presidential elections, who holds the majority in the parliament, or who succeeds whom in the IRGC affecting Iran's decision to negotiate with America. But some of these personnel changes, chiefly in the executive branch, which is currently responsible for such negotiations, will undoubtedly impact the conduct of the negotiations. And as American negotiators found out quickly, Rouhani's election vastly improved the working relationship between the two sides as his team was more serious and its mindset less driven by a zero-sum approach. However, the technical details of any deal and the specific steps Iran takes on its nuclear program become the subject of internal bargaining within the system.

This was on full display during the nuclear negotiations, where key provisions within the deal were the subject of intense debates in the lead-up to and after the JCPOA's signing. Although some hardliners objected to the very premise of nuclear talks and a nuclear agreement with the United States and the rest of the P5+1, it was broadly recognized that the specific provisions within the deal, not the agreement itself, would be the subject of intense scrutiny and criticism (at least until Iran became disenchanted with the sanctions relief it was receiving throughout the course of 2016, leading Khamenei to slowly but surely distance himself from the agreement).⁸⁰ Hence, the domestic bargaining surrounding the emerging deal's provisions helped shape the JCPOA, including the precise limits on enrichment activity. For example, Iranian negotiators were willing to give up more capabilities in some instances to



preserve more visible but less technically significant elements of the program. The number of centrifuges kept in place was deemed more politically significant than their actual output.⁸¹

Second, and relatedly, the bargaining process provides an opening for the United States to seek concessions from Iran. Just as when the system agrees upon and settles on a course of action it is difficult to overturn that consensus, the bargaining process and the disagreements among power centers afford the United States levers it can utilize to curb certain components of Iran's nuclear program. The system has broadly settled on the need for a nuclear program, domestic enrichment, and a certain level of R&D. Hence, it is unlikely that the country will make concessions on these core tenets of its nuclear program. However, despite stated objectives of reaching one million Separative Work Units (SWUs), Iran still does not have clear redlines on what is permissible within those confines—allowing the United States to seek concessions from it.⁸²

The United States can develop provisions while requiring technically significant concessions from Iran that are deemed less politically sensitive and visible in the country in exchange for high-profile offerings from the West. For example, as the JCPOA's negotiators well understood, the acquisition of new aircraft and parts for civilian use is a priority for Iran, whose aging fleet has led to a number of incidents and deaths over the past decades. Allowing Iran to purchase new aircraft from the US company Boeing or the European Airbus would provide a significant boost to any US-Iran engagement. The United States can impose restrictions on the use of the aircraft and parts to purely civilian uses.

The United States can also require Iran to extend JCPOA sunsets significantly, as this is an important area of concern for Washington yet, depending on how it is formulated and what Tehran gets in return, potentially not as politically toxic in Tehran. Similarly, restrictions in R&D are typically easier to impose than those on enrichment, which has become a high-profile issue in Iran (in large part due to government propaganda). Finally, leveraging Iranian political statements to codify them and impose more limits on the proliferation-sensitive aspects of the Iranian nuclear program can increase their political viability in the country. This can include the addition of limits on Iran's missile activities, which can leverage existing statements about self-imposed limits of 2,000 km on the range of the country's missiles.

The future of the JCPOA and Iran's nuclear program are yet to be determined, with domestic factors, US decisions in the remaining months of the Trump presidency, and international events affecting their trajectory. But for the foreseeable future, Iran's nuclear program will remain a national security challenge for the United States. Understanding how Iran makes decisions on the future of its nuclear program will be key to tailoring US policy toward Iran's nuclear activities and American nonproliferation interests. In this context, the bargaining process shaping the contours of Iran's nuclear policy and approach to negotiations may be more indicative than the position of any single entity within the system. Perhaps due to this, Iran has been and remains reluctant to fully and indefinitely deny itself any single option, including those it may not be pursuing at the present moment.



NOTES

- 1. Hassan Rouhani, *Amniyat-e melli va diplomacy-e hateyi* (Tehran: Markaz-e tahqiqat-e strategic, 2012), 27.
- 2. Some relevant scholarly treatments of the key events in and the conduct of the Iran-Iraq War, including the use of chemical weapons, the War of the Cities (the campaign in which the two sides targeted each other's population centers), and the origins of the Islamic Republic's nuclear program include Richard N. Schofield et al., *The Iran-Iraq War: New Weapons, Old Conflicts* (New York: Praeger, 1983); Stephen C. Pelletiere, *The Iran-Iraq War: Chaos in a Vacuum* (New York: Praeger, 1992); Thomas McNaugher, "Ballistic Missiles and Chemical Weapons: The Legacy of the Iran-Iraq War," *International Security* 15, no. 2 (Fall 1990): 5–34; Lawrence G. Potter and Gary Sick, *Iran, Iraq, and the Legacies of War* (New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2004); Ariane M. Tabatabai and Annie Tracy Samuel, "What the Iran-Iraq War Tells Us about the Future of the Iran Nuclear Deal," *International Security* 42, no. 1 (Summer 2017): 152–85; Annie Tracy Samuel, "Perceptions and Narratives of Security: The Iranian Revolutionary Guards Corps and the Iran-Iraq War," International Security Program Discussion Paper 2012-06, Belfer Center for Science and International Affairs, 2012.
- See Uzi Rabi and Nugzar Ter-Oganov, "The Russian Military Mission and the Birth of the Persian Cossack Brigade: 1879–1894," *Iranian Studies* 42, no. 3 (June 2009): 445–63, <u>https://</u><u>www.jstor.org/stable/25597565</u>; Hooshang Amirahmadi, *The Political Economy of Iran under* the Qajars: Society, Politics, Economics and Foreign Relations 179–1926 (London: I.B. Tauris, 2012); Stephanie Cronin, *The Army and the Creation of the Pahlavi State in Iran, 1921–1926* (London: I.B. Tauris, 1997); Stephanie Cronin, *The Making of Modern Iran: State and Society Under Riza Shah, 1921–1941* (London: Routledge, 2003); Donald N. Wilbur, *Riza Shah Pahlavi: The Resurrection and Reconstruction of Iran* (Hicksville, NY: Exposition Press, 1976).
- 4. See Cronin, The Army.
- 5. See Ervand Abrahamian, *Iran Between Two Revolutions* (Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 1982).
- J. E. Peterson, "Guerilla Warfare and Ideological Confrontation in the Arabian Peninsula: The Rebellion in Dhufar," *World Affairs* 139, no. 4 (1977): 278–95 (284–86), <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/20671698</u>; Jeremy Jones, *Oman, Culture and Diplomacy* (Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press, 2013), 159; Joseph Felter and Brian Fishman, "Iranian Strategy in Iraq—Politics and 'Other Means,'" Combatting Terrorism Center at West Point Occasional Paper Series, October 13, 2008; Anthony H. Cordesman, *Iran's Support of the Hezbollah in Lebanon* (Washington, DC: Center for Strategic and International Studies, 2006); Abbas William Samii, "The Shah's Lebanon Policy: The Role of the SAVAK," *Middle Eastern Studies* 33, no. 1 (January 1997): 66–91, 67, <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/4283847</u>.
- See Stephen C. Pelletiere, *The Iran-Iraq War: Chaos in a Vacuum* (New York: Praeger, 1992). For Iranian assessments of these shortcomings, see Mohammad Hassan Mohaqqeqi,



Asrar-e maktum—Nagofteha-ye defa-e hasht saleh az zaban-e masulan-e keshvari va lashkari-e doran-e jang (Tehran: Markaz-e motaleat-e pazhuheshi-e 27 Bessat, 2014).

- Michael Connell, "Iranian Operational Decision Making—Case Studies from the Iran-Iraq War," Center for Naval Analyses, 2013, 36–39, <u>https://www.cna.org/cna_files/pdf/COP-2013-U-005291-Final.pdf</u>.
- Michael Connell, "Iran's Military Doctrine," The United States Institute of Peace Iran Primer, <u>https://iranprimer.usip.org/resource/irans-military-doctrine</u>; Erik A. Olson, "Iran's Path Dependent Military Doctrine," *Strategic Studies Quarterly* 10, no. 2 (Summer 2016): 63–93, 63.
- 10. Akbar Etemad, phone interview by author, October 6, 2014.
- 11. Etemad, interview.
- 12. Etemad, interview.
- 13. Author phone interview with former Iranian revolutionary and cleric, February 18, 2014.
- 14. Author interview with revolutionary and cleric.
- 15. Much like the laws of international armed conflict, Islamic jurisprudence also takes into account both the humanitarian and moral aspects of warfare and its exigencies. Different interpretations of the Islamic laws pertaining to warfare exist. In Shia Islam, the faith prevalent in Iran and the country's official religion and the religious basis for the regime's guiding principles since 1979, there is a general consensus that the use of weapons of mass destruction is prohibited, though the issues of the production and stockpiling of these weapons, as well as whether or not they can be leveraged for deterrence purposes without ever being used, are more controversial.
- 16. Author interview with revolutionary and cleric.
- 17. Aliasghar Soltanieh, interview by author, Tehran, June 9, 2014.
- "Final Assessment on Past and Present Outstanding Issues Regarding Iran's Nuclear Programme, (GOV/2015/68)," IAEA Board of Governors, December 2, 2015, <u>http://isis-online.org/uploads/isis-reports/documents/IAEA_PMD_Assessment_2Dec2015.pdf;</u> "Nuclear archive" discovered by Mossad.
- 19. Sepehr Zabih, *The Mossadegh Era: Roots of the Iranian Revolution* (Chicago: Lake View, 1982), 6.
- 20. Mohammad Eslami was the head of the Defense Industries Training and Research Institute. He led the IRGC delegation in their meetings with A. Q. Khan.
- 21. Bruno Tertrais , *Le marché noir de la bombe : enquête sur la prolifération nucléaire* (Paris: Buchet-Chastel, 2009), 68.
- 22. Daniel R. Coats, Statement for the Record–Worldwide Threat Assessment of the US



Intelligence Community, Office of the Director of National Intelligence, January 29, 2019, 10, <u>https://www.odni.gov/files/ODNI/documents/2019-ATA-SFR---SSCI.pdf</u>.

- 23. "Final Assessment."
- 24. "Post-AMAD Activity," Nuclear archive.
- 25. "Final Assessment."
- 26. Coats, *Statement*, 10.
- 27. James R. Clapper, Unclassified Statement for the Record on the Worldwide Assessment of the US Intelligence Community for the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence, Office of the Director of National Intelligence, January 31, 2012, 5, <u>https://www.odni.gov/files/</u> <u>documents/Newsroom/Testimonies/20120131_testimony_ata.pdf</u>.
- 28. Adherence to and Compliance with Arms Control, Nonproliferation, and Disarmament Agreements and Commitments, US Department of State, August 2019, 29.
- 29. Tabatabai and Samuel, "What the Iran-Iraq War," 152-85.
- 30. Connell, "Iran's Military."
- 32. Connell, "Iran's Military"; Author interviews with Iranian officials, Tehran, 2014.
- 33. Olson, "Iran's Path," 63.
- 34. Author interviews with Iranian officials, former officials, and academics, Tehran, New York, Lausanne, Geneva, Vienna, Berlin, 2014–17.
- 35. Author interviews with senior Iranian officials and former officials, Tehran, New York, Lausanne, Geneva, Vienna, Berlin, 2014–17.
- 36. "Mossahebe-ye ekhtessassi ba Dr. Mohammad Javad Zarif," *Faslnameh-ye motaleat-e siasat-e khareji-e Tehran*, Year 2, no. 5, Summer 2017, 13–26, 16.
- 37. Steven Greenhouse, "France and Iran Mend Rift Over Loan Granted by Shah," *New York Times*, October 26, 1991.
- 38. Paul Lewis, "Iran Freeze Is Upheld in France," New York Times, December 22, 1979.
- 39. Lewis, "Iran Freeze."
- 40. See Dominique Lorentz, *Une guerre* (Paris: Les Arènes, 1997); Paul Labarique, "Raison d'Etat: Jean-Louis Bruguière, un juge d'exception," Réseau Voltaire, April 29, 2004, <u>https://www.voltairenet.org/article13591.html#nb1</u>.



- 41. Greenhouse, "France and Iran."
- 42. Etemad, interview.
- 43. Author interviews with the Iranian nuclear negotiating team, Vienna, June 2014.
- 44. Connell, "Iran's Military."
- 45. "Mossahebe-ye ekhtessassi ba Dr. Mohammad Javad Zarif," 14-15.
- 46. Bruce Hoffman, "Recent Trends and Future Prospects of Iranian Sponsored International Terrorism," RAND Corporation, March 1990, <u>http://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/ pubs/reports/2005/R3783.pdf;</u> Daniel Byman, *Deadly Connections—States that Sponsor Terrorism* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2005), 21-117; Edgar O'balance, *Islamic Fundamentalist Terrorism, 1979–95—The Iranian Connection* (London: MacMillan, 1997); Gawdat Bahgat, "Iran and Terrorism: The Transatlantic Responses," *Studies in Conflict and Terrorism* 22, no. 2 (1999) 141–52.
- 47. Anthony H. Cordesman, Iran's Military Forces in Transition: Conventional Threats and Weapons of Mass Destruction (Westport: Greenwood, 1999); "Iran's Ballistic Missile Capabilities: A Net Assessment," IISS Strategic dossier, May 10, 2010, http://www.iiss.org/ en/publications/strategic%20dossiers/issues/iran--39-s-ballistic-missile-capabilities--a-net-assessment-885a/imd-08-summary-6830; Arthur Holland Michel, "Iran's Many Drones," Center for the Study of the Drone, November 25, 2013, http://dronecenter.bard. edu/irans-drones/; Michael Eisenstadt, Iran's Lengthening Cyber Shadow, The Washington Institute for Near East Polic, no. 34 (July 2016), http://www.washingtoninstitute.org/ uploads/Documents/pubs/ResearchNote34_Eisenstadt.pdf; Michael Eisenstadt, "What Iran's Chemical Past Tells Us about Its Nuclear Future," The Washington Institute for Near East Policy, Research Notes, November 17-April 2014, https://www.washingtoninstitute. org/uploads/Documents/pubs/ResearchNote17_Eisenstadt2.pdf; "The CBW Conventions Bulletin–A Draft Convention to Prohibit Biological and Chemical Weapons under International Criminal Law," Quarterly Journal of the Harvard Sussex Program on CBW Armament and Arms Limitation, no. 43. (December 1998): 43; Judith Miller and William J. Broad, "Bio-Weapons in Mind, Iranians Lure Needy Ex-Soviet Scientists," New York Times, December 9, 1998, http://www.nytimes.com/learning/teachers/featured_ articles/19981209wednesday.html.
- 48. This is somewhat compatible with Graham Allison and Philip Zelikow's Organizational Process Model (Model II) of decision-making as outlined in their opus, *Essence of Decision: Explaining the Cuban Missile Crisis*, which describes the decision-making process as one resulting from the cultures and standard operating procedures of the organizations, which are constrained by these procedures and rules. Graham Allison and Philip Zelikow, *Essence of Decision: Explaining the Cuban Missile Crisis* (London: Pearson, 1971), 143. However, as Jonathan Bendor and Thomas Hammond suggest, the model is flawed. Indeed, as the Iranian model demonstrates, standard operating procedures and rules do not "sharply limit and constrain behavior" and "generate simple, predictable behavior." And as Iran's complex web of institutions and their policy outputs show, subculture is largely



responsible for this. Indeed, "the use of simple decision rules by individual decision makers does not imply that the behavior of an organization will be simple, unsophisticated, or predictable." Jonathan Bendor and Thomas H. Hammond, "Rethinking Allison's Models," *The American Political Science Review* 86, no. 2 (June 1992): 301–22, 309, <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/1964222</u>.

- 49. See Ariane M. Tabatabai, *No Conquest, No Defeat—Iran's National Security Strategy* (New York: Oxford University Press, forthcoming 2020).
- 50. Jack Snyder, *The Soviet Strategic Culture: Implications for Limited Nuclear Operations* (Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation, 1977), 10.
- 51. Steven R. Ward, *Immortal—A Military History of Iran and Its Armed Forces* (Washington, DC: Georgetown University Press, 2009), 2.
- 52. "Iran's Ministry of Intelligence and Security: A Profile," The Federal Research Division of Congress, December 2012, 35, 8, <u>https://fas.org/irp/world/iran/mois-loc.pdf</u>.
- 53. Greg Bruno, "Religion and Politics in Iran," The Council on Foreign Relations, June 19, 2008, <u>https://www.cfr.org/backgrounder/religion-and-politics-iran</u>; Wilfried Buchta, "Who Rules Iran: The Structure of Power in the Islamic Republic," The Washington Institute for Near East Policy and the Knorad Adenauer Stiftung, 2000, <u>http://www.washingtoninstitute.org/uploads/Documents/pubs/WhoRulesIran.pdf.pdf</u>; "Guide: How Iran Is Ruled," BBC, June 9, 2009, <u>http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/middle_east/8051750.stm</u>; also see The United States Institute for Peace Iran Primer, <u>http://iranprimer.usip.org</u>.
- 54. For a discussion of this process and the role of public debates in shaping the contours of redlines, see Ariane M. Tabatabai, *Iran's National Security Debates: Implications for Future U.S.-Iran Negotiations* (Santa Monica, CA: RAND Coproration, 2019).
- 55. These roles are broadly defined by Articles 1–5, 60, 89, 110, 150–51, and 176 of the 1989 Amended Constitution of the Islamic Republic of Iran.
- 56. These roles are broadly defined by Articles 1–5, 60, 89, 110, 150–51, and 176 of the 1989 Amended Constitution of the Islamic Republic of Iran.
- 57. "Leadership Directive," nuclear archive.
- 58. "Tavafoqnameh," nuclear archive.
- 59. "Tavafoqnameh," nuclear archive.
- 60. "Ertebatat va sazmanha-ye moayan-e Goruh-e 8," nuclear archive.
- 61. "'Khotut-e qermez-e mozakereh,' az didgah-e Rahbar-e Enqelab dar didar-e karkonan-e Sazman'e Energy-e Atomi," Fars News, March 14, 2014, <u>http://www.farsnews.com/newstext.</u> <u>php?nn=13930125000961</u> (link not active for all users); Ali Khamenei, "Bayanat dar didar-e masoolan-e Nezam," Khamenei.ir, July 7, 2014, <u>http://farsi.khamenei.ir/speechcontent?id=26908</u>.



- 62. Ali Khamenei, "Bayanat dar daneshgah-e afsari va tarbiat-e pasdari-e Imam Hossein," Khamenei.ir, March 20, 2015, <u>http://farsi.khamenei.ir/speech-content?id=29792</u>.
- 63. "Tekrar/ Sarlashkar Jafari dar haram-e Hazrat-e Masoumeh: Agar mozakerat Inshallah be natijeh beresad hameh khahand did ke ma az hoquq-eman kutah nayamadeh-im," Tasnim News, November 19, 2014, <u>https://www.tasnimnews.com/fa/news/1393/08/28/562311/ رگالم-می-الیاماشنا-تارکاذم</u>
- 64. Author interviews with US and Iranian officials, New York, Washington, DC, Berlin, 2016-17.
- 65. Author interviews with Iranian and US officials, New York, Washington, DC, Berlin, Geneva, Lausanne, Vienna, 2013–17.
- 66. Author interviews with Iranian officials, New York, Berlin, Geneva, Lausanne, Vienna, 2013-17.
- 67. Author interviews with Javad Zarif, other Iranian negotiators and officials, Tehran, Berlin, New York, Lausanne, Geneva, Vienna, 2014–15.
- 68. Author interviews with Iranian officials, New York, Berlin, Geneva, Lausanne, Vienna, 2013-17.
- 69. Author interviews with senior Iranian officials, New York, Berlin, Geneva, Lausanne, Vienna, 2014–16; "'Khotoot-e qermez-e mozakere,' az didgah-e Rahbar-e Enqelab dar didar-e karkonan-e Sazman-e Energy-e Atomi," Fars News, April 14, 2014; Ayatollah Ali Khamenei, "Bayanat dar didar-e jamee az farmandehan o karkonan-e niroo-ye havaee," Khamenei. ir, February 8, 2015, <u>http://farsi.khamenei.ir/speech-content?id=28896</u>; Ayatollah Ali Khamenei, "Bayanat dar didar-e masoolan-e nezam,"Khamenei.ir, June 22, 2014, <u>http://farsi.khamenei.ir/speech-content?id=28896</u>; Ayatollah Ali
- 70. Author interviews with US and Iranian negotiators, Geneva, Lausanne, Vienna, 2014-15.
- 71. Majid Ravanchi, interview by author, Vienna, June 29, 2015.
- 72. Ravanchi, interview.
- 73. Author interviews with the Iranian negotiating team and other senior officials, Geneva, Lausanne, Vienna, 2014–15.
- 74. Ali Khamenei, "Bayanat dar daneshgah-e farhangian," Khamenei.ir, May 9, 2018, <u>http://farsi.khamenei.ir/speech-content?id=39542</u>.
- 75. Ali Khamenei, "Bayanat dar daneshgah-e farhangian."
- 76. "Film-e kamel-e sokhan-e Rouhani dar salgard-e khoruj-e America az BARJAM/ An roo-ye sekeh-ye BARJAM," Fars News, May 8, 2019, <u>https://www.farsnews.com/</u> <u>media/13980218000135/مکس-یور -ن الماک-ملی2013/ (link</u> not active for all users)."Film-e kamel-e sokhan-e Rouhani dar salgard-e khoruj-e America az BARJAM/An roo-ye sekeh-ye BARJAM," Fars News.
- 77. "Daryaban Ali Shamkhani: Siyasat-e feshar-e hadde-axari barabar-e rahbord-e moqavemat be zanu dar amad," IRIB News, September 7, 2019, <u>https://www.iribnews.ir/fa/</u>



دمآرد-وناز -هب-تمواقم-درب، ار -رب ارب-ی رشکادح- را شف-تس ای س/news/2518966

- 79. Ali Khamenei, "Bayanat dar didar-e aqshar-e mokhtalef-e mardom," Khamenei.ir, August 1, 2016, <u>http://farsi.khamenei.ir/speech-content?id=33886</u>.
- 80. Author interviews with US and Iranian negotiating teams, Vienna, Washington, and Tehran, 2014–16.
- 81. The SWU is the measure of the work expended during uranium enrichment.





